A. INTRODUCTION 

This is my appeal from a judgment against me in Snohomish 

County Superior Court in a judicial review of administrative action. The 

administrative action reviewed was a final order of the Washington State 

Liquor Control Board (LCB) affirming the ruling of an Administrative 

Law Judge (ALJ) in a hearing by the Office of Administrative Hearings 

(OAH) under the Washington Administrative Procedure Act (APA). The 

result of the hearing was that the ALJ ruled that I had violated RCW 

26.28.080 by selling tobacco to a minor and was therefore liable for a 

$100 penalty under RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4). 

RCW 26.28.080, a tobacco-related criminal statute, states 

as follows: 

"RCW 26.28.080 
Selling or giving tobacco to minor - Belief of 
Representative capacity, no defense - Penalty. 

Every person who sells or gives, or permits to be sold or 
given to any person under the age of eighteen years 
any cigar, cigarette, cigarette paper or wrapper, or 
tobacco in any form is guilty of a gross misdemeanor. 

It shall be no defense to a prosecution for a violation of 
this section that the person acted, or was believed by the 
defendant to act, as agent or representative of another." 
[Emphasis added] 
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RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4) read as follows: 

"RCW 70.155.100 
Penalties, sanctions, and actions against licensees. 

(3) The liquor control board may imposed a monetary penalty 
upon any person other than a licensed cigarette retailer if 
the liquor control board finds that the person has violated 
RCW 26.28.080, 70.155.030, 70.155.040. 70.155.050, 
70.155.070, or 70.155.090. 

(4) The monetary penalty that the liquor control board may 
impose based upon one or more findings under subsection (3) 
of this section may not exceed the following: 

(a) For violation ofRCW 26.28.080 or 70.155.020, fifty 
dollars for the first violation and one hundred dollars for 
subsequent violation; 

" 

The Snohomish County Superior Court trial judge, the Honorable Ellen J. 

Fair, in her Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order for Judgment, 

filed on August 8, 2012, ruled against me, so I have appealed to this Court 

of Appeal. 

The tobacco sting. On March 16,2011 around 4:15 p.m. the King 

County Health Department ran a tobacco compliance check (a "tobacco 

sting") at Walgreens drugstore No. 4157 in Seattle where I was working as 

a cashier. A minor woman, a decoy for the sting, came to my cash register 
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and asked to buy a pack of cigarettes. Because she looked young, I asked 

for her ID. She presented her driver's license and I keyed her birth date 

into my cash register. Because I inadvertently keyed in "02-22-1984" as 

her birth date instead of "02-22-1994", the correct birth date on her license 

(an error of one digit out of eight), my cash register allowed the sale. The 

Washington State Liquor Control Board (LCB) issued me a pink Notice of 

Board Action on Tobacco Violation and filed a complaint against me with 

the Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) charging me with a 

violation of a tobacco statute, RCW 26.28.080 (a gross misdemeanor), and 

claiming monetary penalties of $100 under tobacco statutes 

RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4). 

In this brief! argue that RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 

(4) are unconstitutional on their face because their wording, when read 

together with the wording of RCW 70.155.100 (8), purport to allow alleged 

violations ofRCW 26.28.080, which violations are gross misdemeanors, to 

be adjudicated under the Washington Administrative Procedure Act (APA). 

RCW 70.155.100 (8) reads as follows: 

"RCW 70.155.100 
Penalties, sanctions, and actions against licensees. 

(8) All proceedings under subsections (1) through (6) of 
This section shall be conducted in accordance with Chapter 
34.05 RCW ..... " 
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This purported grant of authority to adjudicate alleged violations of 

RCW 26.28.080 under the APA usurps a person's rights under the Sixth 

Amendment of the U. S. Constitution which, as interpreted by the U. S. 

Supreme Court and made applicable to the states via the 14th Amendment 

under the doctrine of selective incorporation, guarantees a jury trial to all 

persons charged with crimes where the maximum possible punishment 

exceeds six months. The purported grant of authority to adjudicate alleged 

violations of a criminal statute under the AP A also violates Article I, 

Section 22 of the Washington Constitution, which the Washington Supreme 

Court has interpreted to guarantee jury trials to all persons charged with 

crimes classified at least as low as misdemeanors. 

In the administrative proceedings I argued the merits of my case, 

because I was not allowed to make constitutional arguments. However, in 

the Superior Court judicial review of administrative agency action, I did 

not argue the merits; instead I focused solely on constitutional arguments, 

as I do here. 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court failed to find RCW 70.155.100 (3) and 

RCW 70.155.100 (4) unconstitutional on their face. 
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2. The trial court failed to award costs to me under RCW 4.84.350 as 

the prevailing party. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Did the trial court improperly fail to find that 

RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4), when read together with 

RCW 70.155.100 (8), conflict on their face with the Sixth Amendment of 

the U. S. Constitution and with Article I, Section 22 of the Washington 

Constitution? 

2. Did the trial court improperly fail to award costs to me under 

RCW 4.84.350 as the prevailing party? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

[Note: I discovered too late that the Snohomish County Superior 

Court Clerk's office seems to have erred when they prepared the "Index to 

Petitioner's Clerk's Papers." They mistakenly counted the number of 

pages in the "Certified Appeal Board Record." Their Index indicates that 

the Record contains 302 pages (CP 94-396) but it actually should contain 

only 202 pages. This creates uncertainty. Therefore, when I refer to 

documents contained in the "Certified Appeal Board Record" I will not 

use the designation "CP", as I do everywhere else in this opening brief, 

but I will call it "WSLCB Record", and I will refer to page numbers 
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within the WSLCB Record rather than using the possibly incorrect CP 

page numbers.] 

1. Factual Background 

The tobacco sting. On March 16,2011 around 4:15 p.m. the King 

County Health Department ran a tobacco compliance check (a "tobacco 

sting") at Walgreens drugstore No. 4157 in Seattle where I was working as 

a cashier. A minor woman, a decoy for the sting, came to my cash register 

and asked to buy a pack of cigarettes. Because she looked young, I asked 

for her ID. She presented her driver's license and I keyed her birth date 

into my cash register. Because I inadvertently keyed in "02-22-1984" as 

her birth date instead of "02-22-1994", the correct birth date on her 

license, my cash register allowed the sale. (WSLCB Record, pp. 173-174, 

paragraphs 3.3 - 3.7) 

2. Procedural History 

The WSLCB's citation. On March 24,2011 the Washington State 

Liquor Control Board issued me a "Notice of Administrative Violation" 

alleging that I had violated RCW 26.28.080, selling tobacco to a minor, 

which is a crime, a gross misdemeanor. (WSLCB Record, p. 173, 

paragraph 3.1) The WSLCB in its Notice also requested a statutory 

penalty of$100 under RCW 70.155.100 because I had paid a $50 fine for 

13 



a prior purported tobacco violation, my first, in January, 2011. (WSLCB 

Record, pp. 145-146; p. 174, paragraph 3.9; p. 175, paragraph 4.5) 

My request for a hearing. Using one of the options in checkboxes 

on the Notice, I requested an administrative hearing. (WSLCB Record, p. 

146) 

The WSLCB Complaint and request for an administrative law 

judge. In response to my request for a hearing, on May 20, 2011 the 

WSLCB filed a Complaint with the Office of Administrative Hearings 

(OAH) charging me with a violation ofRCW 26.28.080; claiming 

penalties under RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4); and 

requesting OAH to assign an administrative law judge (ALJ) for the 

hearing. (WSLCB Record, pp. 94-96) 

Requirements of the APA for Petitions for Judicial Review. 

Washington's Administrative Procedure Act (APA), RCW 34.05 et seq., 

allow a superior court to grant relief from a final order of the WSLCB if 

the court determines that 

"[t]he order, or the statute or rule on which the order 
is based, is in violation of constitutional provisions 
on its face ... ". [Emphasis added] RCW 34.05.570(3)(a). 

The AP A also allows a superior court to grant relief from a final 

order of the WSLCB if 
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"[t]he order is outside the statutory authority or jurisdiction 
of the agency conferred by any provision of law ... ". 
[Emphasis added] RCW 34.05.570(b). 

However, RCW 34.05.554 (Limitations on new issues) says that a 

petitioner may not raise issues on appeal which he didn't raise before the 

agency below: 

"RCW 34.05.554 (Limitations on new issues) 

"(1) Issues not raised before the agency may not be 
raised on appeal except to the extent that ... " 

I raised the constitutional issue before the administrative law judge over 

the telephone at the June 29, 2011 pre-hearing telephone conference and 

by submitting motions and a brief for the August 25,2011 telephone 

hearing. Thus, I was able to argue the constitutional issue in the superior 

court. 

My attempted constitutional argument at the pre-hearing 

conference. At the June 29, 2011 pre-hearing telephone conference 

conducted by ALJ Steven C. Smith of the OAH, I orally requested ALJ 

Smith to declare RCW 70.155.100 unconstitutional because violation of 

RCW 26.80.080 is a crime and I am entitled to a jury trial for the alleged 

crime rather than an administrative hearing. ALJ Smith denied my 

request, saying that Administrative Law Judges in Washington don't have 
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jurisdiction to declare state statutes like RCW 70.155.100 

unconstitutional. (WSLCB Record, p. 171, paragraph 2.1) 

Constitutional arguments in my motions submitted for the hearing. 

In preparation for the August 25,2011 telephone hearing I submitted 

motions and an accompanying brief which explained the basis of my 

constitutional attack on RCW 70.155.100 and also argued that the OAH 

had no jurisdiction to adjudicate alleged violations ofRCW 26.28.080 

because it is a criminal statute. (WSLCB Record, pp. 126-132; p. 171, 

paragraph 2.1) 

The hearing. My hearing was held by telephone on August 25, 

2011 and was again conducted by ALJ Smith. At the hearing, 

purportedly authorized under RCW 70.155.100 (8) for alleged violations 

of RCW 26.28.080 and other tobacco statutes in RCW Chapter 70.155, the 

WSLCB was represented by Assistant Attorney General Brian Considine 

of the Washington State Attorney General's Office. I represented myself. 

(WSLCB Record, pp. 32-33) 

The ALJ's decision. After the hearing, ALJ Smith issued his 

decision in his "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Initial Order" 

dated October 24,2011. He denied my motion that challenged the 

WSLCB's jurisdiction but merely stated without argument that my case 
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was a civil enforcement matter, not a criminal matter, and that OAH 

jurisdiction was clear. (WSLCB Record, p. 172, paragraph 2.3) 

My petition to the WSLCB. In my November 10,2011 Petition for 

Review of Initial Order submitted to the WSLCB I argued again that RCW 

70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4) were unconstitutional. I also 

argued that the OAH has no jurisdiction to decide any cases, including 

mine, in which a violation of RCW 26.28.080 is alleged, because a 

violation of that statute is a crime, a gross misdemeanor, and requires a 

jury trial under both Article I, Section 22 of the Washington Constitution 

and the Sixth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution. (WSLCB Record, 

pp. 179-186) 

The WSLCB's Final Order. On December 27,2011 the WSLCB 

issued its short Final Order, which simply adopted ALJ Smith's "Findings 

of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Initial Order" in its entirety and said 

nothing about my constitutional arguments. (WSLCB Record, p. 198) 

The WSLCB signed its Final Order on December 27,2011 and mailed it 

to me on December 28, 2011. (WSLCB Record, pp. 198-202) 

My Petition for Judicial Review. I filed my Petition for Judicial 

Review of Agency Action in Snohomish County Superior Court on 

January 23, 2012; mailed a copy to opposing counsel on January 24, 2012; 
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and had a copy of the petition personally served on WSLCB 

Commissioner Sharon Foster on January 25,2012. 

Payment of penalty under protest. I paid the $100 penalty under 

protest on January 25, 2012. (CP 61) 

The hearing on my Petition for Judicial Review of Agency Action 

was held on August 8, 2012, in Snohomish County Superior Court, the 

Honorable Ellen J. Fair presiding. I appeared pro se, and the WSLCB was 

represented by Assistant Attorney General Stephanie Happold. There was 

no court reporter, and no audio recording was made of the hearing. Both 

parties presented to the judge a short oral summary of their previously 

briefed arguments. At the conclusion of oral argument, the judge said she 

had read all the briefs and she announced her ruling, finding in favor of 

Respondent WSLCB. The judge directed the attorney for the prevailing 

party, Ms. Happold, to prepare findings of fact and conclusions of law for 

the judge's signature. Judge Fair signed the "Findings of Fact, 

Conclusions of Law and Order for Judgment" (CP 8-13) on August 30, 

2012, and filed them the same day. I filed my Notice of Appeal for this 

appeal on September 28,2012. (CP 1) 
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D. ARGUMENTS 

1. THE COURT SHOULD HAVE FOUND THAT 
RCW 70.155.100 (3) AND RCW 70.155.100 (4) 
ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON THEIR FACE 

Standard of review: The proceeding in superior court for the 

judicial review of administrative agency action focused on the 

interpretation and alleged unconstitutionality of several Washington 

tobacco statutes. Statutory interpretation presents a question of law over 

which this court exercises de novo review. Jackson v. Fenix Underground, 

Inc., 142 Wn.App. 141,145,173 P.3d 977 (2007). Likewise, appellate 

courts also review de novo a challenge to the constitutionality of a statute. 

State v. Schultz, 138 Wn.2d 638, 643, 980 P.2d 1265 (1999). 

a. The court improperly failed to find that 
RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4), 
when read together with RCSW 70.155.100 (8), 
conflict on their face with the Sixth Amendment 
of the U. S. Constitution and with Article I, 
Section 22 of the Washington Constitution 

According to RCW 9A.20.01O, Washington has five classifications 

of crimes: Class A felony, Class B felony, Class C felony, gross 

misdemeanor and misdemeanor: 

"RCW 9A.20.01O 
Classification and designations of crimes. 

(5) Classified Felonies. (a) The particular classification of each 
felony defined in Title 9A RCW is expressly designated in the 
section defining it. 
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(b) For purposes of sentencing, classified felonies are 
designated as one of three classes, as follows: 

(i) Class A felony; or 
(ii) Class B felony; or 
(iii)Class C felony. 

(6) Misdemeanors and Gross Misdemeanors. (a) Any crime 
punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars, or 
by imprisonment in a county jail for not more than ninety 
days, or by both such fine and imprisonment is a misdemeanor. 
whenever the performance of any act is prohibited by any 
statute, and no penalty for the violation of such statute is 
imposed, the committing of such act shall be a misdemeanor. 

(b) All crimes other than felonies and misdemeanors are 
gross misdemeanors." [Emphasis added] 

RCW 26.28.080, a tobacco-related criminal statute, states 

as follows: 

"RCW 26.28.080 
Selling or giving tobacco to minor - Belief of 
Representative capacity, no defense - Penalty. 

Every person who sells or gives, or permits to be sold or 
given to any person under the age of eighteen years 
any cigar, cigarette, cigarette paper or wrapper, or 
tobacco in any form is guilty of a gross misdemeanor. 

It shall be no defense to a prosecution for a violation of 
this section that the person acted, or was believed by the 
defendant to act, as agent or representative of another." 
[Emphasis added] 

The U. S. Constitution, and therefore also the Sixth Amendment 

where relevant, is the supreme law of the land, i.e., its authority outranks 
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any other legal authority. McCullogh v. Maryland, 4 Wheat. 316, 17 U.S. 

9,4 L.Ed. 579 (1819). This principle is acknowledged in the Washington 

Constitution, Article I, Section 2: 

"The Constitution of the United States is the supreme law 
of the land." 

The Sixth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution, requires a jury trial 

in criminal cases. The relevant portion of the Sixth Amendment states: 

"In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right 
to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State 
and district wherein the crime shall have been committed ... " 

In Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 161,88 S. Ct. 1444,20 L.Ed.2d 

491 (1968), the U. S. Supreme Court used the doctrine of selective 

incorporation to impose part of the U. S. Constitution's Sixth Amendment 

on the states. See Justice Black's discussion, in Duncan, 391 U.S. at 162, 

of the doctrine of selective incorporation. In particular, the Supreme 

Court made the Sixth Amendment's requirement of a jury trial in criminal 

cases applicable to the states when the maximum potential imprisonment 

is more than six months. Ibid. at 159, reaffirmed in Baldwin v. New York, 

399 U.S. 66, 74, 90 S. Ct. 1886,26 L.Ed.2d 437 (1970). 

RCW 9.92.020, cited immediately below, fixes the maximum 

possible punishment for gross misdemeanors like RCW 26.28.080 (i.e., a 

criminal statute which contains no statement of the punishment that can be 
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imposed for the gross misdemeanor) at a maximum potential 

imprisonment of 364 days, or a maximum fine of$5,000, or both: 

"RCW 9.92.020 
Punishment of gross misdemeanor when not fixed 
by statute. 

Every person convicted of a gross misdemeanor for which 
no punishment is prescribed in any statute in force at the time 
of conviction and sentence, shall be punished by imprisonment 
in the county jail for a maximum term fixed by the court of 
up to three hundred sixty-four days, or by a fine in an amount 
fixed by the court of not more than five thousand dollars, or by 
both such imprisonment and fine." 

Thus the Sixth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution requires a jury 

trial in Washington for gross misdemeanors, because gross misdemeanors 

have a maximum potential punishment of 364 days, which is more than 

six months. 

The Washington Constitution in Article I, Section 22 states that all 

persons charged with a crime are entitled to ajury trial: 

"SECTION 22 RIGHTS OF THE ACCUSED. In criminal 
Prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and 
defend in person, or by counsel, to demand the nature and 
cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, 
to testify in his own behalf, to meet the witnesses against 
him face to face, to have compulsory process to compel the 
attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy 
public trial by an impartial jury of the county in which the 
offense is charged to have been committed and the right to 
appeal in all cases .... " [Emphasis added.] 
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The Washington Constitution outranks any other Washington legal 

authority, including statutes enacted by the legislature. As the Washington 

Supreme Court has said, 

" ... the power of the legislature to enact all reasonable laws 
is unrestrained except where, either expressly or by fair 
inference, it is prohibited by the state and federal 
constitutions. Where the validity of a statute is assailed, 
there is a presumption of the constitutionality of the 
legislative enactment, unless its repugnancy to the 
constitution clearly appears or is made to appear beyond 
a reasonable doubt." [Citations omitted] [Emphasis added] 
Clark v. Dwyer, 56 Wash.2d 425, 431,353 P.2d 941, 945 

(1960) 

In particular the Washington Constitution outranks any statute such as 

RCW 70.155.100 (8), which tries to place adjudication ofRCW 

70.155.100 (3), RCW 70.155.100 (4), and RCW 26.28.080 under 

Washington's Administrative Procedure Act, Chapter 34.05 RCW. 

"RCW 70.155.100 
Penalties, sanctions, and actions against licensees. 

(3) The liquor control board may imposed a monetary penalty 
upon any person other than a licensed cigarette retailer if 
the liquor control board finds that the person has violated 
RCW 26.28.080, 70.155.030, 70.155.040. 70.155.050, 
70.155.070, or 70.155.090. 

(4) The monetary penalty that the liquor control board may 
impose based upon one or more findings under subsection (3) 
of this section may not exceed the following: 

(b) For violation ofRCW 26.28.080 or 70.155.020, fifty 
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Act. 

dollars for the first violation and one hundred dollars for 
subsequent violation; 

(8) All proceedings under subsections (1) through (6) of 
this section shall be conducted in accordance with Chapter 
34.05 RCW. 

" 

Chapter 34.05 RCW is Washington's Administrative Procedure 

I will demonstrate "beyond a reasonable doubt", as required by 

Clark v. Dwyer, supra, that RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4) 

when read together with RCW 70.155.100 (8) are "repugnant" to, i.e., 

conflict with, the U. S. Constitution and the Washington Constitution, also 

required by Clark v. Dwyer. 

The Washington Supreme Court case that has interpreted Article I, 

Section 22 of the Washington Constitution ruled that in Washington, jury 

trials in criminal cases are required even for misdemeanors. City of Pasco 

v. Mace, 98 Wash.2d 87,101,653 P.2d 618, 625 (1982). Although the 

u. S. Supreme Court's interpretation of the Sixth Amendment, made 

applicable to the states via the 14th Amendment by Duncan, supra, 391 

U.S. 145, 162, and Baldwin, supra, 399 U.S. 66, 74, establishes the 
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minimum protection under the Bill of Rights which a state must respect, 

state courts are at liberty to find in their own constitutions greater 

protection than is afforded by the federal constitution, according to the 

U. S. Supreme Court. Oregon v. Hass, 420 U.S. 713, 719, 95 S. Ct. 1215, 

43 L.Ed.2d 570 (1975). And the Washington Supreme Court has done so 

in regard to the right to a jury trial in criminal cases, as I pointed out 

above. That is, in interpreting Article I, Section 22 of the Washington 

Constitution, the Washington Supreme Court has stated that persons 

charged with misdemeanors in Washington have a right to ajury trial for 

misdemeanors. City of Pasco, supra, 98 Wash.2d 87 at 101, citing Oregon 

v. Hass, supra. 

Because a violation ofRCW 26.28.080 is a gross misdemeanor, 

anyone charged with a violation of that tobacco statute is entitled to a jury 

trial, and any other tobacco statutes such as RCW 70.155.100 (3) and 

RCW 70.155.100 (4) when read together with RCW 70.155.100 (8) 

(which purport to grant jurisdiction to the Office of Administrative 

Hearings (OAH) under the Administrative Procedure Act to adjudicate 

an alleged violation ofRCW 26.28.080), are unconstitutional on their face. 

To determine whether a statute is unconstitutional "on its face" or 

is "facially invalid" means that the 
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"[c]onstitutional analysis is made upon the language of 
the ... statute itself." City of Seattle v. Webster, 115 Wash.2d 
635,640,802 P.2d 1333, 1337 (1990). 

If a statute is unconstitutional on its face, a reasonable interpretation of the 

statute's wording conflicts openly with the relevant constitutional 

provisions to which one is comparing the statute. Parmalee v. O'Neel, 

145 Wash.App. 223, 235, 186 P.3d 1094, 1100 (2010). The rights granted 

to persons by the Washington Constitution and the U. S. Constitution 

make any purported infringements of those rights by Washington statutes, 

in particular by any statutes such as RCW 70.155.100(3), RCW 

70.155.100 (4) and RCW 70.155.100 (8), when read together, 

unconstitutional. Because the unconstitutionality of these statutes is 

obvious from a reasonable reading of their words alone, the statutes are 

unconstitutional on their face. 

Consequently, because the trial court failed to find that RCW 

70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4) are unconstitutional on their face, 

some of the trial court's Conclusions of Law (CP 10-13) are in error. The 

second sentence of Conclusion of Law No. 10 says 

"The Board has authority pursuant to RCW 70.155.100 
to impose civil sanctions against employees of tobacco 
licensees who violate RCW 26.28.080." 
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I have shown above that this is not so. Conclusion of Law No. 13 says 

"13. The Board pursued a constitutionally valid civil 
action against Mr. Klinkert based on the same set of facts 
that could also lead to criminal charges. The Board can 
prosecute misdemeanors in Chapter 70.155. RCW and 
RCW 26.28.080, as well as impose RCW 70.155.100 
civil sanctions for the same acts. The Board acted within 
its statutory authority bestowed upon it by the Washington 
State Legislature when it pursued an administrative action 
against Mr. Klinkert for selling tobacco to a minor." 

Again, I showed above that none of this is true. The Board cannot do any 

of these things under the statutes which I have shown are unconstitutional. 

Conclusion of Law No. 14 says in its second sentence: 

"14 ...... the Office of Administrative Hearings and its 
Administrative Law Judges have statutory authority to 
conduct civil administrative hearings and adjudicate 
Mr. Klinkert's alleged tobacco violation." 

I also showed that claim to be false, because it is unconstitutional for 

the state to use the Administrative Procedure Act to adjudicate alleged 

violations of criminal statutes. 

2. THE COURT SHOULD HAVE A WARDED COSTS 
TO ME UNDER RCW 4.84.350 AS THE PREVAILING 
PARTY 

The superior court did not rule on this issue below, because I was 

not the prevailing party. 
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Washington statute RCW 4.84.350 (Judicial review of agency 

action - A wards of fees and expenses) authorizes reimbursement of 

expenses and attorney fees to 

"a qualified party that prevails in a judicial 
review of an agency action ... ". 

I have incurred no attorney fees because I am pro se, acting as my own 

attorney. However, I have incurred costs in this litigation, and ifl prevail 

in this court I am entitled to be reimbursed for them. 

In the superior court, the Attorney General in Respondent's Brief, 

p. 11, footnote 7 (CP 55), cites Silverstreak, Inc. v. State Dept. of Labor, 

159 Wn.2d 868, 892, 154 P.3d 891 (2007), in support of the Attorney 

General's claim that the LCB's actions against me were "substantially 

justified". The Attorney General quotes this passage from Silverstreak: 

"To establish that its action was substantially justified, 
the Board must show that 'its position has a reasonable 
basis in law and fact.'"

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