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

V. ARGUMENT 

A. RCW 70.155.100 Is Constitutional 

RCW 70.155.100 provides, in relevant part, that the "[B]oard may 

impose a monetary penalty upon any person ... if the [Board] finds that 

the person violated RCW 26.28.080." RCW 70.155.100(3). This penalty 

is limited to $50 or $100. RCW 70.155.100(4)(a). RCW 26.28.080 

prohibits selling a tobacco product to a minor and provides that a person 

who does so "is guilty of a gross misdemeanor." 

Mr. Klinkert asserts that RCW 70.155.100 IS facially 

unconstitutional because it does not provide for a jury trial. Aplt's Br. at 

25. His argument is without merit. Mr. Klinkert fails to carry his burden 

to establish facial unconstitutionality because: 1) the same conduct can 

give rise to both civil and criminal liability; 2) a statute is not converted 

from civil to criminal merely by referencing conduct that can be punished 

criminally; and 3) the Legislature intended for enforcement of 

RCW 70.155.100 to be a civil action. Mr. Klinkert's assertion that 

RCW 70.155.100's reliance on RCW 26.28.080 converts enforcement 

under the former into a criminal action is unsupported. 
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1. A Party Challenging The Constitutionality Of A Statute 
Bears The Heavy Burden Of Establishing Its 
Unconstitutionality . 

A "party challenging the statute's constitutionality bears the heavy 

burden of establishing its unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt." 

Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State, 142 Wn.2d 183, 205, 

11 P.3d 762 (2000). Reasonable doubt is "resolved in favor of 

constitutionality." Citizens for Responsible Wildlife Mgmt. v. State, 

149 Wn.2d 622, 631, 71 P.3d 644 (2003) (citation omitted). Further, "it is 

the duty of this court to construe a statute so as to uphold its 

constitutionality." State v. Reyes, 104 Wn.2d 35, 41, 700 P.2d 1155 

(1985). A statute is facially unconstitutional if "no set of circumstances 

exists in which the statute, as currently written, can be constitutionally 

applied." City of Redmond v. Moore, 151 Wn.2d 664, 669, 91 P.3d 875 

(2004). Any analysis of the statute must be done in the context of the 

entire statutory scheme and its purpose. See State v. Manro, 125 Wn. 

App. 165, 173, 104 P.3d 708 (2005). Further, courts avoid statutory 

interpretation that leads to absurd results or renders a portion of a statute a 

nullity. State v. Hall, 168 Wn.2d 726, 737,230 P.3d 1048 (2010). 
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2. That RCW 70.155.100 References Conduct That Can 
Be Punished As A Gross Misdemeanor Does Not 
Transform RCW 70.155.100 Into A Criminal Statute. 

The Legislature may constitutionally impose criminal and civil 

sanctions for the same conduct. Hudson v. Us., 522 U.S. 93, 118 S. Ct. 

488, 139 L. Ed. 2d 450 (1997). Additionally, "the Legislature may 

provide for both civil sanctions and criminal penalties in the same statute 

without thereby converting the civil proceeding to a criminal or penal 

one." Winchester v. Stein, 135 Wn.2d 835, 853, 959 P.2d 1077 (1998). 

Further, the Legislature may rely on language or elements from 

another statute to establish a civil regulatory scheme. A civil enforcement 

statute's description of offending conduct "by reference to criminal 

statutes does not mean that its occurrence must be established by criminal 

standards or that the consequences of a finding of liability in a private civil 

action are identical to the consequences of a criminal conviction." 

Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 491, 105 S. Ct. 3275, 87 L. 

Ed. 2d 346 (1985). In Sedima, the court considered a provision of RICO 

allowing a private civil cause of action for violation of the criminal statute. 

Id. at 482-83. The court explained that a civil plaintiff need only prove a 

defendant violated RICO by a preponderance of the evidence - not beyond 

a reasonable doubt - even though the civil enforcement mechanism 

referred to a violation of the criminal act. Id. at 491. Thus, a legislative 
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decision to reference another statute does not hinder prosecutions or 

enforcement proceedings involving the same illegal conduct. 

Here, the Board's imposition of an administrative, I.e., civil, 

penalty for the sale of tobacco to a minor under RCW 70.155.100 is not 

converted into a criminal action merely because the behavior can also be 

punished as a gross misdemeanor. Proceedings to enforce the state's 

prohibition against sale of tobacco to a minor can take two forms. 

On the civil side, as evidenced here, the Board can issue an 

administrative complaint against the seller. See generally WAC 314-42-

051. These proceedings are conducted in accordance with the AP A. 

RCW 70.155.100(8). If, following a hearing, the Board "finds that the 

person has violated RCW 26.28.080" then the Board can "impose a 

monetary penalty." RCW 70.155.100(3). The monetary penalty imposed 

"may not exceed ... fifty dollars for the first violation and one hundred 

dollars for each subsequent violation." RCW 70.155.100(4). 

On the criminal side, the limited law enforcement designation 

allows Board staff to issue criminal citations and, just like any other law 

enforcement officer, refer their investigation to the local prosecuting 

attorney. See RCW 10.93.020(2). The prosecutor then decides whether to 

pursue a criminal penalty under RCW 26.28.080. RCW 26.28.080 

provides that selling tobacco to a minor is conduct punishable as a gross 
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misdemeanor. Punishment for a gross misdemeanor may be imprisonment 

in the county jail for up to 364 days, or imposition of a fine of up to 

$5,000, or both. RCW 9.92.020. 

Nothing in RCW 26.28.080 supplants, or prohibits, a civil 

enforcement proceeding against an individual for selling tobacco. 

RCW 26.28.080 only provides that a person who sells tobacco to a minor 

"is guilty of' a gross misdemeanor. It does not mandate that prosecution 

for a gross misdemeanor is the only enforcement available. 

Mr. Klinkert cites no authority for his position that this dual 

enforcement mechanism is unconstitutional or that he was entitled to 

criminal procedures during his administrative hearing. In fact, as 

discussed above, the case law demonstrates otherwise. Merely because 

the civil enforcement statute - RCW 70.155.1 00 - references conduct that 

can also result in criminal enforcement does not render all proceedings 

thereunder criminal. Mr. Klinkert received all the process to which he is 

due. Because Mr. Klinkert carries the burden to establish that 

RCW 70.155.100 is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt, his 

unsupported arguments to the contrary must fail. 
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3. The Legislature Intended Its Prohibition To Sell 
Tobacco To A Minor To Include A Civil Enforcement 
Component. 

Even if a statute does not expressly provide that it is civil in nature, 

the fact that authority to impose the sanction is conferred upon an agency 

is "prima facie evidence that Congress intended to provide for a civil 

sanction." Hudson v. Us., 522 U.S. 93, 103, 118 S. Ct. 488, 139 L. Ed. 

2d 450 (1997). Intent that a statute be civil can also be inferred from the 

procedural mechanisms established for its enforcement. See Us. v. One 

Assortment of 89 Firearms, 465 U.S. 354, 363, 104 S. Ct. 1099, 79 L. Ed. 

2d 361 (1984). In One Assortment, the U.S. Supreme Court explained that 

a state legislature can express its intent that a statute be civil in nature by 

creating "distinctly civil procedures." Id. 

By passing RCW 70.155.100, the Legislature empowered the 

Board - an administrative agency - to impose civil penalties and enforce 

the prohibition against the sale of tobacco to minors. The Legislature also 

established distinctly civil adjudicative proceedings for its enforcement by 

requiring that all proceedings to enforce RCW 70.155.100 be conducted in 

accordance with the APA. RCW 70.155.100(8). This grant of authority 

and distinct civil procedures separates the Board's administrative 

enforcement from the criminal authority granted to the courts. 
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B. Mr. Klinkert's Request For Costs On Appeal Should Be 
Denied Because The Board's Action Is Substantially Justified. 

Under RCW 4.84.350, a prevailing party is not entitled to costs on 

appeal if the agency action was substantially justified. RCW 4.84.350( 1). 

Substantially justified means "justified to a degree that would satisfy a 

reasonable person." Silverstreak Inc. v. Washington State Dep't. of Labor 

& Industries, 159 Wn.2d 868, 892, 154 P.3d 891 (2007) (citation omitted). 

"It requires the State to show that its position had a reasonable basis in law 

and fact." Id at 892. The relevant factors in determining whether the 

Board was substantially justified here are "the strength of the factual and 

legal basis for the action, not the manner of the investigation and the 

underlying legal decision." Id 

As demonstrated above, the Board's actions were substantially 

justified. Mr. Klinkert never denied, and the record demonstrates without 

doubt, that he sold tobacco to a minor. CP 156-58. In fact, he did so 

twice. CP 159-60. As such, he violated the law and the Board acted 

within its authority in penalizing his illegal behavior. This constitutes 

substantial justification. Further, because the Board has demonstrated that 

the current laws and procedures under which it acted are constitutional, it 

is further substantially justified in ordering penalties. 
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Mr. Klinkert argues that the Board should have known that 

RCW 70.155.100 was unconstitutional because the state is required to 

review its liquor laws under the Synar Amendment and the Substance 

Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant. Aplt's Br. at 32-33. 

However, as discussed above, there is no case law supporting that 

RCW 70.155.100 is unconstitutional or that the Board's reliance on it was 

unreasonable. 

Accordingly, Mr. Klinkert's request for an award of costs IS 

without merit and should be denied.4 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, the Board respectfully requests the Court 

affirm the Board's Final Order in the above captioned case and this appeal 

be dismissed. 

RESPECTFULL Y SUBMITTED this 8th day of February, 2013 . 

ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
Attorney General 

~~~ 
ISAAC WILLIAMSON 
WSBA No. 43921 
Assistant Attorney General 
KIM O'NEAL, WSBA No. 12939 
Senior Counsel 
Attorneys for Appellees 

4 Mr. Klinkert asserts that his costs include the $100 penalty imposed by the 
Board. Aplt's Br. at 33. However, the penalty is not a cost of the litigation.